917 FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CT 26 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chef Deputy Clerk

DERRICK ACKERS, a/k/a DERICK ACRES,

Petitioner/Appellant,

versus

CASE NO. 80,036

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ANNE MOORMAN REEVES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
Florida Bar No. 0934070
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
Phone: 904-252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The petitioner, Derrick Ackers, was found to be a habitual offender according to section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1989), after being adjudicated guilty of three crimes. The trial court imposed a term of probation on two of the crimes.

On cross-appeal, the state challenged the imposition of probationary terms as inconsistent with the plain language of the habitual offender statute. The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed the probation orders and remanded for "legal sentences" (Appendix A).

The petitioner filed his notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this court, and jurisdiction was accepted (Appendix B).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1989), the "Habitual Offender" statute, does not by its terms mandate that any defendant found to meet the criteria for designation as a habitual offender and sentenced thereunder must necessarily be sentenced to a term of incarceration.

ARGUMENT

SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), PERMITS A COURT TO SENTENCE A HABITUAL OFFENDER TO PROBATION.

The question here—the propriety of placing a person found to meet the statutory criteria identifying him as a habitual felony offender on probation instead of sentencing him to a term of years in prison—is a matter of what legal conclusion the language of section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1989), compels. The petitioner maintains that probation is not proscribed by the language of the statute. The state holds the opposite view, in which the Fifth District Court of Appeal joins. The gravamen of the latter position is that probation is by definition not a "sentence." While accurate as a statement of the law, it is inadequate as a summary of the meaning of this section.

Section 775.084 cannot be understood merely as a rule allowing more onerous terms of incarceration. It does allow such sentences; but it also describes a context of judicial discretion within which these sentences may--or may not--arise.

A linguistic analysis of the section would take shape thus: First, the foundation of the law is language conferring a twofold discretion upon the courts. A judge may thus decide whether or not to make certain findings, and if so, whether or not to sentence in a certain way. Subsection (1)(a) states that a

"[h]abitual felony offender" means a defendant for whom the court <u>may</u> impose an extended term of imprisonment, as provided in this section, <u>if</u> it finds that [the defendant meets certain criteria]. (Emphasis added.) The analysis is the same for subsection (1)(b), defining a violent offender.

Second, two rules limit the exercise of the discretion thus conferred. First, once a judge decides that a defendant is <u>not</u> one whom the statute was meant to embrace, enhanced sentencing is proscribed. And second, to find that a defendant <u>is</u> such a one, a given procedure is required. Subsection (4)(c) states that

[i]f the court decides that imposition of sentence under this section is not necessary for the protection of the public, sentence shall be imposed without regard to this section. At any time when it appears to the court that the defendant is a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender, the court shall make that determination as provided in subsection (3).

This language clearly permits the court to choose a guidelines sentence over a habitual offender sentence. There is no requirement to sentence under this section; the only requirement is <u>not</u> to sentence when "not necessary for the protection of the public," as decided by the court.

Finally, this court has harmonized the errant "shall" in subsection (4)(a) with the logical construction of the section as a whole, <u>Burdick v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. 88 (Fla. February 6, 1992). The remaining mandatory language serves either to set out due process considerations (subsections (3), (4)(c), and (4)(d)) or to provide definitions (subsections (2), (4)(b), and (4)(e)).

¹ Subsection (e) would lose nothing of its force if written as a definition: "'Gaintime' for those sentenced under this section means only incentive time as provided for in s. 944.275(4)(b)." The same is true for the other definitional subsections expressed in mandatory terms.

No mandatory language demands the imposition of sentence.

Both the First and the Second District Courts of Appeal have recognized that habitual offender findings do not necessitate a habitual offender sentence. In <u>Donald v. State</u>, 562 So.2d 792, 795 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), the court determined that a finding of habitual offender status need not necessarily invoke punishment as a habitual offender. But once the trial court decides to sentence a defendant under that section, it must "impose sentence in conformity with sections 775.084(4)(a) or 775.084(4)(b)."

Further, in <u>King v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 309 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), the court examined the language of the statute minutely, and concluded that "there is nothing inherently or per se illegal about a sentence of community control coupled with a determination that a defendant is an habitual felony offender." <u>Id</u>. at 313.

The opposing view makes much of the meaning of the word

"sentence." See Ackers v. State, 17 F.L.W. 1293 (Fla. 5th DCA

May 22, 1992); Kendrick v. State, 17 F.L.W. 812 (Fla. 5th DCA

March 27, 1992). In essence, the argument is that "sentence" and

"probation" are mutually exclusive categories, and so reference
in a law to sentencing must necessarily omit the possibility of
probation. But this argument is chop logic, not borne out by

sense or usage. Consider, for example, the "sentencing"

guidelines, which embrace probation. Consider, indeed, section

775.084(4)(c), instructing the court on non-habitual imposition
of sentence, where "sentence" comprehends probation. A

presentence investigation, under Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.710, must precede any "sentence" other than probation for the first-time felony offender. Without question, the word "sentence" may properly operate as a generic term referring to punishment.

The logical outgrowth of the case law construing section 775.084, both of this court in <u>Burdick</u> and of two district courts in <u>Donald</u> and <u>King</u>, is a rule that may be summarized as follows:

- (1) A defendant may be, but need not be, found to be a habitual offender if he has the appropriate past convictions.
- (2) For a defendant <u>not</u> found to be a habitual offender, sentence according to the guidelines is required.
- (3) For a defendant found to be a habitual offender, sentence may be according to the guidelines if the community need not be otherwise protected, or according to this section as a habitual offender.
- (4) For a defendant sentenced as a habitual offender, the sentence may include any punishment from probation through community control up to the maximum terms of years set out in subsections (4)(a) and (4)(b).

For these reasons, the petitioner respectfully suggests that the correct interpretation of section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1989), permits the imposition of probation upon a defendant found to be a habitual offender.

CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the arguments made and authorities cited herein, petitioner respectfully requests that this honorable court reinstate the trial court's order granting probation.