0+7

127 FILED

NOV 16 1997

CLERK KUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DERRICK ACKERS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 80,036

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S MERITS BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

NANCY RYAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #765910
210 N. Palmetto Ave.
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

# TOPICAL

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state agrees with the statement of the case and facts as set out by the petitioner in his merits brief, with the following additions:

Mr. Ackers was convicted, after a jury trial, in case no. CR-9660 (Orange County) of two counts of robbery with a firearm and one count of aggravated battery, all committed on August 16, 1990. (R 461-2, 555-6) He was convicted, after entering a nolo contendere plea, in case no. CR90-10389 (Orange County) of one count of resisting a law enforcement officer with violence, committed on September 26, 1990. (R 466, 398-403, 586-7)

Mr. Ackers was sentenced in both cases on May 23, 1991. (R 417-49, 584-5, 605-8, 588-9) On the aggravated battery count in 90-9660, he was sentenced as a habitual offender to ten years' incarceration. (R 584-5) On the resisting arrest with violence count in 90-10389, he was sentenced as a habitual offender to ten years' incarceration, to run concurrent to the ten-year sentence imposed in 90-9660. (R 588-9) On each of the armed robbery counts, he was granted ten years' probation, the terms to run

A first degree felony punishable by life. Section 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1989). The jury found that Mr. Ackers was guilty as a principal of robbery with a firearm as to both counts but found in special verdicts that he did not have actual possession of the firearm as to either count. (R 550-53) His sentences on Counts I and II were accordingly not enhanced pursuant to Section 775.087. (R 555)

A second degree felony. Section 784.045(1)(a)2., Florida Statutes (1989).

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  A third degree felony. Section 843.01, Florida Statutes (1989).

concurrent to one another and consecutive to the ten-year prison sentence. (R 605-8)

At sentencing, the trial judge, the Honorable Gary L. Formet, Sr., over the state's objection, ruled that he could not impose a habitual offender sentence on the armed robbery counts, because they were first degree felonies punishable by life. (R 439, 432-4) The judge believed initially, during the sentencing hearing, that if he adjudicated Mr. Ackers to be a habitual offender as to the second-degree felony, he would be required to impose a 30-year sentence. (R 441-4, 439) While under that impression, Judge Formet announced that sentencing Mr. Ackers as a habitual offender was not necessary to protect the public. (R 439-40) After realizing he could impose any sentence up to 30 years on that count, Judge Formet withdrew from his earlier fniding, adjudicated Mr. Ackers to be a habitual offender, and imposed the sentences outlined above. (R 443, 444-48, 438)

On the state's cross-appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, the district court held that the trial judge erred in finding that the habitual offender statute does not apply to first-degree felonies punishable by life. Ackers v. State, 601 So.2d 567 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). The district court also held, relying on its earlier decision in State v. Kendrick, 596 So.2d 1153 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), that straight probation is an illegal sentence when imposed on a defendant who has been determined to be a habitual felony offender. Id. at 1153. The district court reversed the grants of probation on Counts I and II, case no. 90-9660, remanding for imposition of legal sentences on those counts. Id. at 1153-4.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The petitioner asserts, correctly, that the Legislature did not expressly state, in the current version of the habitual offender statute, whether straight probation is among the sanctions which may be imposed to protect the public pursuant to that statute. He concludes, from the omission, that the Legislature intended that probation is among the appropriate punishments for habitual offenders, even those from whom the public requires protection. The state contends that the Legislature has made the contrary intention clear, and that the Fifth District's decision in this case should be affirmed.

## ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DISCERNED THE LEGISLATIVE INTENT BEHIND THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE.

As the petitioner correctly states, Florida's habitual offender statute allows the trial courts to exercise considerable discretion. While the statute requires trial judges to find that a defendant who meets the listed criteria qualifies as a habitual offender, the statute leaves it to the judge's discretion to impose sentence pursuant to its provisions only when necessary to protect the public. Section 775.084(4)(c), Florida Statutes (1989). The state's position in this case is that once a trial court finds that imposition of sentence pursuant to Section 775.084 is necessary to protect the public, then probation is not one of the sentences authorized by the statute.

The petitioner also correctly observes that the Legislature did not expressly state, in the current version of the habitual offender statute, 4 whether straight probation is among the sanctions which may be imposed to protect the public pursuant to that statute. He concludes, from the omission, that the Legislature intended that probation is among the appropriate punishments for habitual offenders, even those from whom the public requires protection. The state contends that the Legislature has made the contrary intention clear, and that the Fifth District's decision in this case should be affirmed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. Ackers committed the offenses involved in this case in 1990. The 1989 habitual offender statute applies. Section 775.084 has not been amended since 1989.

The 1989 habitual offender statute is identical, in pertinent part, to the 1988 habitual offender statute. <sup>5</sup> In 1988, the Legislature passed Sections 775.0841 through 775.0843, which provide as follows:

775.0841 Legislative findings intent. The Legislature hereby finds that a substantial and disproportionate number of serious crimes is committed in Florida by a relatively small number of multiple and repeat felony offenders, commonly known as career criminals. The Legislature further finds that priority should be given to the investigation, apprehension, prosecution of career criminals in the use of law enforcement resources and to the incarceration of career criminals in the use of available prison space. The Legislature intends to initiate and support increased efforts by state and local law enforcement agencies and offices attorneys' toinvestigate, apprehend, and prosecute career criminals and to incarcerate them for extended terms.

775.0842 Persons subject to career criminal prosecution efforts. A person who is under arrest for the commission, attempted commission or conspiracy to commit any felony in this state shall be the subject of career criminal prosecution efforts provided that such person qualifies as a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender under s. 775.084.

775.0843 Policies to be adopted for career criminal cases.

(1) Criminal justice agencies within this state shall employ enhanced law enforcement management efforts and resources for the investigation, apprehension and prosecution of career criminals....

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Chapter 89-280, §1, Laws of Florida.

- (2) Each state attorney's office shall establish a career criminal prosecution unit and may adopt and implement policies based on the following guidelines:
- (a) All reasonable prosecutorial efforts shall be made to resist the pretrial release of a charged defendant meeting career criminal selection criteria.
- (b) A plea of guilty or a trial conviction shall be sought on each offense charged in the accusatory pleadings against an individual meeting career criminal selection criteria.
- (c) All reasonable prosecutorial efforts shall be made to reduce the time between arrest and disposition of charges against an individual meeting career criminal selection criteria.
- (d) All reasonable prosecutorial efforts shall be made to persuade the court to impose the most severe sanction authorized upon a person convicted after prosecution as a career criminal....

See Chapter 88-131, §§3-5, Laws of Florida (emphasis added). Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, defines habitual felony offenders and habitual violent felony offenders, respectively, as

defendant[s] for whom the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment, as provided in this section, if [the defendant's criminal record meets the relevant criteria.]

Section 775.084(1)(a) and (b) (emphasis added).

The Senate Staff Analysis which accompanied the 1989 Senate bill which was adopted by the Legislature in Chapter 89-280, Section 1, Laws of Florida, characterized the existing law as follows:

The Florida Statutes define habitual felony offenders and habitual

violent felony offenders for the purpose of imposing enhanced sentences which extend beyond the usual statutory maximum penalties.

(Emphasis added; see appendix to this brief.) <u>See also</u> Section 775.084(4)(e) (habitual offenders ineligible for parole, basic gain time, and administrative gain time).

The foregoing authority supports the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decisions in this case and in State v. Kendrick, 596 So. 2d 1153 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). In Kendrick, the district court also pointed out that each of the range of penalties provided for in Section 775.084(4), as construed in Burdick v. State, 594 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1992), consists of a "sentence" for "a term of years." The Fifth District Court went on to note that the Legislature has from the time it created probation defined it in terms of a withheld sentence. Kendrick at 1154. See Chapter 20519, §20, Laws of Florida (1941) ("the court in its discretion may...stay and suspend the imposition of sentence"); Section 948.01(3), Florida Statutes (1989) ("the court, discretion, may...stay and withhold the imposition of sentence.")

As the petitioner points out, probation is treated as a sentence in some contexts and is treated as an alternative to a sentence in other contexts. Compare Van Tassel v. Coffman, 486 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1986) with Villery v. Florida Parole & Probation Commission, 396 So.2d 1107, 1110-11 (Fla. 1980) (abrogated in part on other grounds by Chapter 83-131, s. 6, Laws of Florida). An order of probation is, or is not, deemed a sentence depending upon the policy to be served. Cervantes v. State, 442 So.2d 176

(Fla. 1983); State v. Malone, 489 So.2d 213 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986). The state submits that the Fifth District Court was correct to hold that, in this case, the distinction is one with a difference. Probation and recidivist sentencing were created by the Legislature to serve entirely different purposes. It is unreasonable to presume that when the Legislature authorized a wide range of sentences for those habitual felons from whom, in the trial courts' view, the public needs protection, that it intended to include among those sentences grants of probation.

Based on the expressions of legislative intent outlined above, the district court's decision in this case should be approved.

### CONCLUSION

The Respondent requests this Court to approve the decision of the district court of appeal.